

# Assemblée générale

Distr. GÉNÉRALE

A/HRC/11/13/Add.1 15 mai 2009

FRANÇAIS Original: ANGLAIS

CONSEIL DES DROITS DE L'HOMME Onzième session Point 3 de l'ordre du jour

#### PROMOTION ET PROTECTION DE TOUS LES DROITS DE L'HOMME, CIVILS, POLITIQUES, ÉCONOMIQUES, SOCIAUX ET CULTURELS, Y COMPRIS LE DROIT AU DÉVELOPPEMENT

Rapport du Représentant spécial du Secrétaire général chargé de la question des droits de l'homme et des sociétés transnationales et autres entreprises, M. John Ruggie<sup>\*</sup>

#### Additif

Obligations pour les États de donner accès à des voies de recours en cas de violation des droits de l'homme par des tiers, y compris des sociétés: synthèse des dispositions régionales et internationales, commentaires et décisions<sup>\*\*</sup>

GE.09-13399 (F) 020609 110609

<sup>\*</sup> Soumission tardive.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Le résumé du présent rapport est distribué dans toutes les langues officielles. Le rapport proprement dit est joint en annexe au résumé, et il est distribué dans la langue originale uniquement.

#### Résumé

Le cadre conceptuel et les principes d'action proposés en 2008 par le Représentant spécial du Secrétaire général chargé de la question des droits de l'homme et des sociétés transnationales et autres entreprises, et unanimement approuvés par le Conseil des droits de l'homme, reposent sur trois principes fondamentaux: l'obligation de protéger incombant à l'État lorsque des tiers, y compris des sociétés, portent atteinte aux droits de l'homme, en adoptant des politiques, des réglementations et des contrôles appropriés; la responsabilité des entreprises de respecter les droits de l'homme, ce qui veut dire fondamentalement ne pas porter atteinte aux droits d'autrui; et la nécessité d'un accès plus large des victimes à des voies de recours utiles, judiciaires.

L'obligation de protéger qui incombe à l'État est fondée sur le droit international des droits de l'homme, qui prévoit que les États ont l'obligation de prendre des mesures appropriées pour prévenir les violations par des sociétés des droits des personnes se trouvant sur leur territoire ou sous leur juridiction, et pour enquêter sur ces violations, les sanctionner et y remédier quand elles surviennent, ce qui signifie offrir la possibilité d'obtenir réparation. Plusieurs des instruments internationaux et régionaux relatifs aux droits de l'homme contiennent des dispositions expresses sur les voies de recours; et lorsque cela n'est pas le cas, il existe un certain nombre de commentaires fort utiles émanant des commissions des droits de l'homme, des tribunaux et des organes conventionnels compétents des Nations Unies.

Fondé sur de précédents travaux de recherche conduits par le Représentant spécial, le présent rapport examine la portée des obligations des États, s'agissant de donner accès à des voies de recours en cas de violation des droits de l'homme par des tiers, y compris des sociétés, au titre des instruments internationaux relatifs aux droits de l'homme suivants: le Pacte international relatif aux droits civils et politiques, le Pacte international relatif aux droits économiques, sociaux et culturels, la Convention internationale sur l'élimination de toutes les formes de discrimination raciale, la Convention sur l'élimination de toutes les formes de discrimination à l'égard des femmes, la Convention relative aux droits de l'enfant, la Convention internationale sur la protection des droits de tous les travailleurs migrants et des membres de leur famille, et la Convention relative aux droits des personnes handicapées<sup>1</sup>. Il examine également la portée des obligations des États au titre des principaux instruments régionaux relatifs aux droits de l'homme ci-après: la Convention américaine relative aux droits de l'homme, la Convention européenne des droits de l'homme et la Charte africaine des droits de l'homme et des peuples.

Les principes du droit international des droits de l'homme par matière de réparation ont été fortement influencés par le droit de la responsabilité de l'État et, en règle générale, mettent aussi l'accent sur la justice réparatrice, le but étant de permettre à la victime de se retrouver (autant que possible) dans la situation où elle se trouvait avant la violation de ses droits.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Le présent rapport s'inspire grandement de la précédente série de rapports du Représentant spécial sur l'obligation de protéger qui incombe à l'État au titre des principaux instruments des Nations Unies relatifs aux droits de l'homme, série dont on trouvera une synthèse dans le document A/HRC/8/5/Add.1.

S'agissant des organes conventionnels des Nations Unies, on constate un certain nombre de points communs dans leur façon d'appréhender l'obligation qui incombe à l'État de fournir un accès à des voies de recours en cas de violations des droits de l'homme, qu'elles soient commises par des acteurs privés ou publics. Les organes ont toujours insisté sur l'importance de:

- Faire procéder de manière rapide, approfondie et efficace à des enquêtes;
- Fournir un accès à des mécanismes de réparation indépendants, rapides et efficaces, établis au moyen de procédures judiciaires, administratives, législatives ou autres;
- Imposer des sanctions appropriées, y compris en criminalisant le comportement et en engageant des poursuites lorsque les violations équivalent à des crimes internationaux; et
- Fournir un large éventail de formes de réparation appropriée, telle que l'indemnisation, la restitution, la réhabilitation et la modification des lois pertinentes.

Plusieurs organes conventionnels ont également insisté sur la nécessité d'accorder une attention particulière aux groupes vulnérables ou «à risque» – notamment les femmes, les enfants, les peuples autochtones et d'autres minorités – afin qu'ils aient accès à des recours utiles qui soient adaptés à leurs besoins. Dans le cas des peuples autochtones, ces dispositions sont complétées par d'autres instruments internationaux qui traitent expressément de leurs droits.

Bien qu'un certain nombre d'instruments internationaux relatifs aux droits de l'homme plus récents traitent expressément des mesures que doivent prendre les États pour lutter contre les violations commises par des sociétés, en établissant même la responsabilité des personnes morales<sup>2</sup>, il existe un manque de clarté en ce qui concerne les mesures que les États devraient prendre pour engager la responsabilité des sociétés. Parmi les questions qui mériteraient des précisions, il faudrait savoir si les États doivent établir la responsabilité des entreprises elles-mêmes, outre celle des personnes physiques agissant en leur nom; si les États doivent donner aux particuliers la possibilité d'engager des actions au civil contre les entreprises (aller au-delà des mécanismes administratifs d'examen des plaintes sans pour autant opter pour des sanctions pénales); et jusqu'à quel point les États doivent tenir les entreprises responsables des violations qui auraient été commises à l'étranger.

La question de la dimension extraterritoriale de l'obligation qui incombe à l'État de protéger en vertu du droit international des droits de l'homme n'a pas encore été réglée mais les directives actuelles laissent penser que les États ne sont pas tenus de réglementer ou de contrôler les activités extraterritoriales des entreprises relevant de leur juridiction, quoi qu'il ne leur est pas interdit de le faire si la juridiction de l'État est reconnue et si le critère du caractère raisonnable est respecté. Dans ce contexte, le Comité des droits économiques, sociaux et culturels et le Comité pour l'élimination de la discrimination raciale ont engagé les États à prendre des mesures

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Le Protocole facultatif à la Convention relative aux droits de l'enfant, concernant la vente d'enfants, la prostitution des enfants et la pornographie mettant en scène des enfants engage expressément tout État partie à établir la responsabilité des personnes morales au paragraphe 4 de l'article 3.

pour empêcher les entreprises relevant de leur juridiction de commettre des violations à l'étranger et les rendre responsables de leurs actes<sup>3</sup>.

Les commissions régionales des droits de l'homme et les tribunaux se sont penchés sur des aspects clefs de l'obligation qui incombe à l'État de donner accès à des voies de recours en cas de violation des droits de l'homme, y compris sur le sens de l'expression «procès équitable» et sur des éléments pratiques tels que le caractère insuffisant de l'aide juridictionnelle ou de la représentation, qui peuvent constituer des obstacles inacceptables à l'exercice du droit au recours. S'agissant de la question des violations commises par des entreprises, le Représentant spécial a fait réaliser une étude sur le système interaméricain, qui traite notamment des effets de l'activité des entreprises sur la violation des droits des peuples autochtones, des menaces sur l'intégrité physique des personnes (y compris celles découlant des dommages écologiques) et des situations dans lesquelles les droits économiques et sociaux, et les droits de l'enfant sont affectés<sup>4</sup>. D'autres travaux de recherche sont en cours sur le traitement des violations commises par des entreprises dans les systèmes européen et africain.

Si l'obligation qui incombe à l'État de protéger, y compris de donner accès à des voies de recours, s'applique à tous les droits reconnus auxquels des entités privées peuvent porter atteinte et à toutes les entreprises, on constate que certains types d'entreprises, de droits et de victimes sont plus souvent concernés que d'autres. Par exemple, les organes conventionnels des Nations Unies ont souligné que les États devaient:

- Protéger les droits des employés dans les secteurs public et privé et établir des mécanismes efficaces d'examen des plaintes dans le domaine de l'emploi;
- Empêcher au maximum les entreprises du secteur des industries extractives d'entraver la capacité des communautés touchées par leurs activités, en particulier des peuples autochtones, d'avoir accès à des mécanismes de réparation; et
- Dans les situations où les «fonctions de l'État» ont été privatisées, faire en sorte que des systèmes efficaces soient disponibles pour pouvoir obtenir réparation en cas de violations commises par des entreprises privées.

L'obligation qui incombe à l'État de donner accès à des voies de recours est distincte du droit individuel à réparation reconnu par un certain nombre d'instruments internationaux et régionaux. Si l'obligation de l'État s'applique aux violations de tous les droits applicables par des tiers, y compris des sociétés, il est difficile de savoir jusqu'à quel point le droit individuel à réparation s'étend aux violations commises par des acteurs non étatiques. Cela étant, le droit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Voir l'Observation générale n<sup>o</sup> 19, E/C.12/GC/19, par. 54 (2008), qui utilise la même terminologie que celle des précédentes Observations générales du Comité des droits économiques, sociaux et culturels; les observations finales concernant le Canada du Comité pour l'élimination de la discrimination raciale, CERD/C/CAN/CO/18, par. 17; et les observations finales concernant les États-Unis, CERD/C/USA/CO/6, par. 30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>http://www.reports-and-materials.org/State-Responsibilities-under-Inter-American-System-Apr-2008.pdf</u>.

individuel à réparation compte parmi la catégorie des actes couverts par les Principes fondamentaux et directives concernant le droit à un recours et à réparation des victimes de violations flagrantes du droit international des droits de l'homme et de violations graves du droit international humanitaire, «quelle que soit en définitive la partie responsable de la violation»<sup>5</sup>.

Les Principes fondamentaux des Nations Unies ont pour objectif de réaffirmer les obligations de l'État en la matière. Ils montrent que la communauté internationale est de plus en plus préoccupée par la question de l'accès à des voies de recours en cas de violations flagrantes des droits, et que l'on s'attend de plus en plus à ce que les particuliers aient la possibilité de saisir les tribunaux nationaux pour défendre les droits qui leur sont reconnus par les instruments internationaux dans de telles situations. Les Principes reconnaissent également trois aspects fondamentaux du droit individuel à réparation en cas de violations flagrantes: le droit d'avoir un accès effectif à la justice dans des conditions d'égalité; le droit à une réparation adéquate, effective et rapide du préjudice subi; et le droit d'avoir accès aux informations utiles concernant les violations et les mécanismes de réparation<sup>6</sup>. Ils laissent entendre que les États pourraient être invités à redoubler d'efforts et pourraient disposer d'une marge de manœuvre moins importante lorsque le droit individuel à réparation doit être exercé. L'adoption des Principes invite à mettre de nouveau l'accent sur les obligations de l'État de donner accès à des voies de recours en cas de violations flagrantes commises par des acteurs privés, ainsi que sur les incidences pratiques et juridiques du droit individuel à réparation dans les affaires impliquant des entreprises.

Le Représentant spécial continuera de suivre l'évolution de la situation dans le domaine considéré et de consulter toutes les parties intéressées par la mise en œuvre des trois piliers complémentaires du cadre «protéger, respecter et réparer».

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Résolution 60/147 de l'Assemblée générale, annexe, principe 3 c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Principe 11.

#### Annexe

#### STATE OBLIGATIONS TO PROVIDE ACCESS TO REMEDY FOR HUMAN RIGHTS ABUSES BY THIRD PARTIES, INCLUDING BUSINESS: AN OVERVIEW OF INTERNATIONAL AND REGIONAL PROVISIONS, COMMENTARY AND DECISIONS

#### **CONTENTS**

			Paragraphs	Page
I.	INTI	RODUCTION	1 - 5	8
II.		ERAL REMEDIAL PRINCIPLES IN THE LAW OF TE RESPONSIBILITY	6 - 9	9
III.	STATE OBLIGATIONS TO PROVIDE ACCESS TO REMEDY UNDER THE CORE INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS TREATIES		10 - 69	10
	A.	International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights	12 - 22	11
	B.	International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights	23 - 30	14
	C.	International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination	31 - 35	16
	D.	Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women	36 - 40	17
	E.	Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment	41 - 45	19
	F.	Convention on the Rights of the Child	46 - 51	20
	G.	International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families	52 - 55	22
	H.	Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities	56 - 59	23
	I.	International instruments pertaining to the rights of indigenous peoples	60 - 63	24
	J.	Summary	64 - 69	24

# **CONTENTS** (continued)

# Paragraphs Page

IV.	STATE OBLIGATIONS TO PROVIDE ACCESS TO REMEDY					
	UNE	DER REGIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS INSTRUMENTS	70 - 97	26		
	A.	American Convention on Human Rights	72 - 81	26		
	B.	European Convention on Human Rights	82 - 88	29		
	C.	African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights	89 - 94	31		
	D.	Summary	95 - 97	32		
V.	THE	INDIVIDUAL RIGHT TO REMEDY IN SITUATIONS				
		BROSS HUMAN RIGHTS VIOLATIONS	98 - 110	33		
	A.	Gross violations	100 - 101	33		
	B.	State obligations and individual rights	102 - 110	34		
VI.	GOI	NG FORWARD	111 - 112	36		

### I. INTRODUCTION

1. The conceptual and policy framework proposed by the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on the issue of human rights and transnational corporations and other business enterprises in his report (A/HRC/8/5), and unanimously endorsed by the Human Rights Council, comprises three core principles: the State duty to protect against human rights abuses by third parties, including business through appropriate policies, regulation, and adjudication; the corporate responsibility to respect human rights, meaning essentially not to infringe on the rights of others; and greater access by victims to effective remedy, both judicial and non-judicial. Access to remedy is central to both the State duty to protect and the corporate responsibility to respect. This overview report addresses its relationship with the former.

2. The State duty to protect is grounded in international human rights law. Guidance from international human rights bodies suggests that the duty applies to all recognized rights that private parties are capable of impairing and to all types of business enterprises.<sup>7</sup> As part of the duty, States are obliged to take appropriate steps both to prevent corporate-related abuse of the rights of individuals within their territory and/or jurisdiction and to investigate, punish and redress such abuse when it does occur - in other words, to provide access to remedy. Several of the core international and regional human rights treaties explicitly provide for these elements of remedy; and where they do not, there has been some useful commentary from the relevant human rights commission, courts and United Nations treaty bodies.

3. This report summarizes the most relevant provisions, commentary and decisions dealing with State obligations to provide access to remedy under the international and regional human rights systems. It builds upon, and will be further complemented by, detailed research undertaken in support of the Special Representative's work exploring the treatment of the State duty to protect in relation to corporate-related abuse by the United Nations treaty bodies and by the regional systems.

4. The State obligation to provide access to remedy is distinct from the individual right to remedy recognized in a number of the international and regional treaties. As noted above, while the State obligation applies to abuse of all applicable rights by third parties, including business, it is unclear how far the individual right to remedy extends to abuses by non-State actors. However, an individual right to remedy has been affirmed for the category of acts covered by the United Nations Basic Principles and Guidelines on the Right to a Remedy and Reparation for Victims of Gross Violations of International Human Rights Law and Serious Violations of International Humanitarian Law, "irrespective of who may ultimately be the bearer of responsibility for the violation". Accordingly, this report also considers the provisions of the United Nations Basic Principles and their possible implications in this area.

5. The report begins by briefly outlining the relevance of general remedial principles in the law of State responsibility to State obligations to provide access to remedy in the human rights field (section I). It then considers relevant provisions of the main international human rights treaties, and their interpretation by the respective United Nations treaty bodies (section II). The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See A/HRC/8/5/Add.1 for a summary of the Special Representative's earlier research papers on the State duty to protect under the core United Nations human rights treaties.

discussion focuses on States' obligations to take appropriate steps to investigate, punish and redress third party abuse and draws on the series of papers prepared for the Special Representative on the work of the treaty bodies to highlight any business-specific references in the treaties and in the comments made by the relevant treaty bodies. This section also briefly considers other international instruments pertaining to indigenous peoples. The report then discusses the main regional human rights treaties in a similar manner, bearing in mind that further research is being undertaken for the Special Representative on the European and African systems (section III).<sup>8</sup> It concludes with a discussion of the individual right to remedy under the United Nations Basic Principles (section IV).

#### II. GENERAL REMEDIAL PRINCIPLES IN THE LAW OF STATE RESPONSIBILITY

6. The classic formulation of the State obligation to provide remedy under international law is found in the 1928 decision of the Permanent Court of International Justice (PCIJ) in the *Chorzów Factory* case, in the context of a claim between States: "it is a principle of international law, and even a general conception of law, that any breach of an engagement involves an obligation to make reparation".<sup>9</sup> The Court continued:

"The essential principle ... is that reparation must, as far as possible, wipe out all the consequences of the illegal act and re-establish the situation which would, in all probability, have existed if that act had not been committed. Restitution in kind, or, if this is not possible, payment of a sum corresponding to the value which a restitution in kind would bear ..."

7. The International Law Commission's draft articles on State responsibility for internationally wrongful acts,<sup>11</sup> which are highly influential but not legally binding, provide that States which are in violation of their international obligations are required not only to cease the offending conduct but also to "make full reparation" for "any damage, whether material or moral"; this may entail individual forms of reparation (such as compensation, restitution, satisfaction) or a combination of forms.<sup>12</sup> The commentary on the draft articles explains that they codify the *Chorzów Factory* rule.<sup>13</sup> These principles have been reiterated by the International

<sup>9</sup> (1928) PCIJ (ser. A) No. 17, p. 29.

<sup>10</sup> Ibid., p. 47.

<sup>11</sup> General Assembly resolution 56/83, Annex.

<sup>12</sup> Art. 31.

<sup>13</sup> See James Crawford (ed.), *The International Law Commission's Articles on State Responsibility: Introduction, Text, and Commentaries* (2002), pp. 211-214.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Detailed research has already been conducted on the Inter-American system. See Cecilia Anicama, "State Responsibilities to Regulate and Adjudicate Corporate Activities under the Inter-American Human Rights System", paper prepared for the Special Representative, April 2008, available at <u>http://www.reports-and-materials.org/State-Responsibilities-under-Inter-American-System-Apr-2008.pdf</u>.

Court of Justice (ICJ) in a number of cases, and the *Chorzów Factory* decision has been described as "the cornerstone of international claims for reparations, whether presented by states or other litigants".<sup>14</sup>

8. The draft articles, like the *Chorzów Factory* case before them, adopt a compensatory approach, and avoid sanctions or penalties like punitive damages; the purpose of a remedy is to place an aggrieved party in the same position they would have been in had the wrongful act not occurred. This remedial approach in the area of State responsibility has heavily influenced conceptions of remedy in international human rights law.

9. However, particularly in situations involving international crimes, international human rights law imposes clear obligations on States to prosecute and punish those who commit abuses. In other cases as well, as discussed below, the international and regional human rights institutions have stressed the importance of sanctions, including criminalizing violations of certain rights, and of adequate investigations. This report now considers the international human rights treaties and the State obligations arising under them directly.

### III. STATE OBLIGATIONS TO PROVIDE ACCESS TO REMEDY UNDER THE CORE INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS TREATIES

10. This section considers the following international human rights treaties and relevant commentaries by the respective bodies charged with monitoring their implementation: the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR), the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (ICERD), the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (CAT), the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC), the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families (ICRMW), and the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD).<sup>15</sup>

11. In each case, provisions and commentary that deal with States' obligations to provide access to remedy in general are considered, with business-specific references noted at the end of each discussion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Dinah Shelton, "Righting Wrongs: Reparations in the Articles on State Responsibility", *American Journal of International Law* vol. 96 (2002), p. 836. For example, in its Advisory Opinion on the Legal Consequences of the Construction of a Wall in the Occupied Palestinian Territories, the ICJ held that all natural and legal persons affected by the relevant breaches of international human rights and humanitarian law were entitled to reparation: Advisory Opinion of 9 July 2004, paras. 152-153.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> This section draws primarily on the Special Representative's 2007 series of papers on the United Nations human rights treaties and commentaries by the treaty bodies, but also includes relevant developments since those papers were published.

### A. International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights

#### **General principles**

12. Article 2 (3) of the ICCPR provides that States parties are required to ensure that "any person" whose Convention rights or freedoms are violated "shall have an effective remedy".<sup>16</sup> The French and Spanish versions of article 2 (3) would not automatically entail the substantive (as opposed to procedural) aspects of remedy, but in general comment No. 31 (2004) the Human Rights Committee interpreted an "effective remedy" as requiring reparation where appropriate.<sup>17</sup>

13. A person seeking such a remedy is entitled to have their claim "determined by competent judicial, administrative or legislative authorities or by any other competent authority provided for by the legal system of the State", <sup>18</sup> and to have a decision in their favour enforced. As the Special Representative's work on the ICCPR shows, "general comment No. 31 highlights that the HRC views access to such competent authorities as pivotal to States Parties' obligations under the Covenant. It says that it 'attaches importance to States Parties establishing appropriate judicial and administrative mechanisms for addressing claims of rights violations under domestic law'. The HRC's commentaries consistently encourage States to make greater efforts to provide forums for claims regarding public and private human rights abuses."

14. States are also specifically required to "develop the possibilities of judicial remedy" under article (3) (b). The Human Rights Committee has encouraged this by outlining "the different ways in which the judiciary may effectively assure rights, including through 'direct applicability of the Covenant, application of comparable constitutional or other provisions of law, or the interpretive effect of the Covenant in the application of national law.' Further, in Concluding Observations, the HRC has expressed regret at situations where the Covenant 'has not yet been invoked in the courts or before the administrative authorities (article 2 of the Covenant).'"<sup>20</sup>

<sup>20</sup> Ibid., para. 68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Article 2 (3) can be contrasted with the approach taken in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, article 8 of which provides that "Everyone has the right to an effective remedy by the competent national tribunals for acts violating the fundamental rights granted him by the constitution or by law", but which does not specifically refer to rights under the Declaration.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> CCPR/C/21/Rev.1/Add.13, para. 16. "Remedy" has no exact equivalent in French and Spanish; the terms *recours* and *recurso* are commonly used to refer only to the procedural aspects of remedy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Art. 2 (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> "State Responsibilities to Regulate and Adjudicate Corporate Activities under the United Nations' core Human Rights Treaties: Individual Report on the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights", prepared for the Special Representative, June 2007, para. 65, available at <a href="http://www.reports-and-materials.org/Ruggie-ICCPR-Jun-2007.pdf">http://www.reports-and-materials.org/Ruggie-ICCPR-Jun-2007.pdf</a>.

15. As Nowak comments, whether a remedy is effective "may ultimately be determined only on the basis of concrete cases, taking into consideration all relevant circumstances, the respective national legal system and the special features of the substantive right concerned".<sup>21</sup> However, the Human Rights Committee has offered some guidance.

16. The Committee has emphasized the centrality of prompt, thorough and effective investigations into allegations of abuse (particularly where they involve threats against the security of the person) by independent and impartial bodies. Indeed, it has said that the failure to establish appropriate procedures to carry out such investigations may constitute a separate breach of the Covenant.<sup>22</sup> Where an investigation reveals that an abuse has occurred, the Committee has recommended that a State should ensure that those responsible are brought to justice; again, failure to do so may constitute a breach of the Covenant in its own right, particularly where those violations are recognized as criminal under international law, such as torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment.<sup>23</sup>

17. While generally giving States latitude in determining what constitutes an effective remedy, the Committee has said that in cases of "particularly serious" human rights abuses, notably in cases involving violations of the right to life, "purely disciplinary and administrative remedies cannot be deemed to constitute adequate and effective remedies within the meaning of Article 2 (3)".<sup>24</sup> Barriers to the establishment of legal responsibility in such serious cases - including doctrines like immunity of a State's officials, the defence of superior orders, and unreasonably short statutory limitation periods - should be "removed" and States parties should assist each other in bringing such perpetrators to justice.

18. In its general comment No. 32 (2007), the Human Rights Committee has stressed that the right to a fair and public hearing by a competent, independent and impartial tribunal established by law in article 14 (1) of the ICCPR is broad in its scope, applying not only to criminal trials but also to the determination of rights and obligations in a "suit of law" - meaning judicial or administrative proceedings "aimed at determining rights and obligations" and including, for example, civil claims in the areas of contract, tort and property law, and decisions or proceedings involving public officials that affect their private entitlements, such as social security assessments or decisions about pension benefits (para. 16). Whenever such rights and obligations are being determined, this must be done "at least at one stage of the proceedings" by a competent tribunal:

"The failure of a State party to establish a competent tribunal to determine such rights and obligations or to allow access to such a tribunal in specific cases would amount to a violation of article 14 if such limitations are not based on domestic legislation, are not necessary to pursue legitimate aims such as the proper administration of justice, or are

- <sup>22</sup> General comment No. 31, para. 15.
- <sup>23</sup> Ibid., para. 18.

<sup>24</sup> Bautista v. Colombia, communication No. 563/1993, para. 8.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Manfred Nowak, *UN Covenant on Civil and Political Rights: CCPR Commentary* (2nd rev. ed., 2005), p. 65.

based on exceptions from jurisdiction deriving from international law such, for example, as immunities, or if the access left to an individual would be limited to an extent that would undermine the very essence of the right."(para. 18).

19. The Human Rights Committee suggests that a legal cause of action must actually exist for the right to a fair hearing to apply. In other words, while article 14 (1) protects against obstacles to access in relation to existing civil causes of action, it does not appear to support the creation of a new cause of action where none currently exists.

20. General comment No. 32 also notes some key features of a fair hearing, which include the avoidance of undue delay, the transparency of the proceedings (which should in principle be conducted orally and publicly), and the right to review by a higher tribunal (in the case of criminal proceedings).

21. The Human Rights Committee has stated that "where appropriate, reparation can involve restitution, rehabilitation and measures of satisfaction, such as public apologies, public memorials, guarantees of non-repetition and changes in relevant laws and practices, as well as bringing to justice the perpetrators of human rights violations".<sup>25</sup> While there is no duty to provide it, the Committee considers that "the Covenant generally entails appropriate compensation". It has often recommended changes in States parties' laws or practices beyond the specific remedy for the victim in the case at hand, in order to prevent recurrences. The Human Rights Committee has also emphasized that effective remedies must be "appropriately adapted so as to take account of the special vulnerability of certain categories of persons, including in particular children".<sup>26</sup>

#### **Business-specific references**

22. The Human Rights Committee has made clear its view that States parties are required under the Covenant to legislate against abuse of the rights of individuals within their territory and/or jurisdiction by private actors, to impose adequate sanctions, and to ensure the existence of appropriate complaints mechanisms, and it has specifically discussed employers in this regard.<sup>27</sup> With respect to particular sectors, the Committee has expressed concern about adverse effects on indigenous peoples and minorities caused by extractive and land development activities, and has recommended that States parties take steps to regulate and adjudicate activities capable of jeopardizing rights in such situations, including activities affecting access to justice.<sup>28</sup>

<sup>28</sup> Ibid., paras. 107-128.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> General comment No. 31. para. 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Ibid., para. 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> "State Responsibilities to Regulate and Adjudicate Corporate Activities under the United Nations' core Human Rights Treaties: Individual Report on the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights", op. cit., paras. 96-100.

# **B.** International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights

### **General principles**

23. The ICESCR does not contain a specific provision dealing with the State obligation to provide access to remedy for abuses of Covenant rights. However, the general requirement in article 2 (1) providing for the progressive realization of all rights contained in the Covenant "by all appropriate means" has been interpreted by the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR) as implying such an obligation.

24. Although the Committee has discussed and indicated support for a wide range of remedies, it has put particular emphasis on judicial remedies: "the Committee considers that, in many cases, the other 'means' used could be rendered ineffective if they are not reinforced or complemented by judicial remedies".<sup>29</sup> Administrative remedies may thus be "adequate", provided there is an opportunity for judicial review.<sup>30</sup> Whatever remedy is provided, the Committee has stressed that it should be provided in an accessible, affordable, timely, and effective manner.

25. With respect to some rights, particularly non-discrimination, the Committee has stated that protection through judicial means is "indispensable", whether the abuse is committed by public or private actors.<sup>31</sup> The Committee has been at pains to stress that "there is no Covenant right which could not, in the great majority of systems, be considered to possess at least some significant justiciable dimensions ... The adoption of a rigid classification of [economic, social and cultural] rights which puts them, by definition, beyond the reach of the courts would thus be arbitrary and incompatible with the principle that the two sets of human rights are indivisible and interdependent".<sup>32</sup> It seems reasonable to conclude that this concern has influenced some of its strong pronouncements in support of judicial remedies.

26. In relation to State obligations to provide access to remedy where there has been a violation of article 2 (2) - which provides for the non-discriminatory exercise of Covenant rights - the Committee has stated in a draft general comment that:<sup>33</sup>

"National policies and strategies should provide for the establishment of effective mechanisms and institutions where they do not exist, including administrative authorities, ombudsmen, national human rights institutions, courts and tribunals. These institutions should investigate and address alleged violations relating to article 2 (2), *including actions by private actors*. They should be empowered to provide effective remedies, such as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> General comment No. 9 (1999), para. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Ibid., para. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Ibid., para. 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Draft general comment No. 20, paras. 36-37 (emphasisis added).

compensation, reparation, restitution, rehabilitation, guarantees of non-repetition, declarations, public apologies, educational programmes and prevention programmes.

"... States parties are obliged to monitor effectively the implementation of laws and policies to comply with article 2 (2). This includes establishing the necessary monitoring institutions *and encouraging other actors such as civil society and the private sector* to carry out such a function."

#### **Business-specific references**

27. Given the number of economic and social rights that relate to the employment setting, it is perhaps not surprising that the Committee has emphasized State obligations to regulate employers with respect to issues including forced and child labour, discrimination-related abuse, safe working conditions, and the right to form and join trade unions.<sup>34</sup> The Committee "clearly considers that States parties have a duty to protect employees from abuse of Covenant rights by State and non-State employers, including business enterprises. It highlights that States must play a central role in regulating and adjudicating employers' behaviour, including through enacting and/or enforcing legislation (in some cases criminal) to ensure protection."<sup>35</sup>

28. CESCR has specifically mentioned the importance of States regulating the activities of private providers of social security and other core State functions.<sup>36</sup> It has also discussed the importance of remedial measures in the context of extractive and other major infrastructure projects and their impact on indigenous peoples, and has emphasized the importance of providing adequate compensation as well as alternative land to displaced groups.

29. On the issue of compensation, it is not entirely clear whether the Committee expects States to ensure that this is paid directly by the private actor(s) involved.<sup>37</sup> While general comment No. 17 (2005) seems to indicate this in the context of infringements of intellectual property rights, in concluding observations dealing with individual States parties, the Committee has indicated that it expects States to ensure compensation is provided, but they then seem to have discretion as to whether to require third parties to contribute directly.

30. Notably, CESCR has commented on the importance of States seeking to prevent negative impacts by "their own citizens and companies" operating overseas, and to "take steps to influence other third parties" to respect rights "through legal or political means", in accordance

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> "State Responsibilities to Regulate and Adjudicate Corporate Activities under the United Nations core Human Rights Treaties: Individual Report on the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights", prepared for the Special Representative, May 2007, para. 91, available at <u>http://www.reports-and-materials.org/Ruggie-report-ICESCR-May-2007.pdf</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Ibid., para. 113.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Ibid., paras. 140-143.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Ibid., paras. 72-74.

with international law.<sup>38</sup> Further, in general comment No. 19 on the right to adequate social security, CESCR recommended that "States parties should extraterritorially protect the right to social security by preventing their own citizens and national entities from violating this right in other countries. Where States parties can take steps to influence third parties (non-State actors) within their jurisdiction to respect the right, through legal or political means, such steps should be taken in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations and applicable international law" (para. 54).

# C. International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination

## **General principles**

31. Like the ICCPR, ICERD sets out State obligations to provide access to remedy for violations of Convention rights and freedoms. Article 6 ensures both the procedural and substantive aspects of remedy in providing that:

"States parties shall assure to everyone within their jurisdiction effective protection and remedies, through the competent national tribunals and other State institutions, against any acts of racial discrimination which violate his human rights and fundamental freedoms contrary to this Convention, as well as the right to seek from such tribunals just and adequate reparation or satisfaction for any damage suffered as a result of such discrimination."

32. Article 6 contemplates both injunctive relief to prevent abuse (in the reference to "protection") as well as adequate reparation where abuse actually occurs. In discussing the regulatory measures States should take, the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (CERD) has recommended various steps involving the inclusion of certain provisions in national criminal law as well as the amendment of various procedural standards, like the burden of proof, in racial discrimination-related cases.<sup>39</sup> The Committee has stated that the obligation that such provisions be "'*effectively implemented* by the competent national tribunals and other State institutions' is implicit in article 4 of the Convention, under which State parties 'undertake to adopt immediate and positive measures'".<sup>40</sup>

33. To comply with article 6, investigations should be thorough, proper, impartial and effective.<sup>41</sup> This applies to all relevant institutions (including the police, public prosecutors and

<sup>40</sup> Ibid., para. 34.

<sup>41</sup> Ibid., para. 36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> General comment No. 15 (2002), para. 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> "Mapping State Obligations for Corporate Acts: An Examination of the UN Human Rights Treaty System - Individual Report on the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination", prepared for the Special Representative, December 2006, paras. 30-33, available at <u>http://www.business-humanrights.org/Documents/State-Obligations-Corporate-Acts-CERD-18-Dec-2006.pdf</u>.

the courts). Both civil and criminal proceedings may be relevant but the Committee has made clear its view that the Convention does not require a system of "sequential remedies", which must be followed in all cases. Rather, it has recommended that remedies must be provided within a reasonable time.<sup>42</sup>

34. Articles 1 (4) and 2 (2) require States to take special measures to ensure the full and equal enjoyment of human rights for particular groups, and CERD has been especially concerned about remedies for "at-risk" or vulnerable groups such as indigenous peoples, migrant workers and minorities such as Roma. In relation to indigenous peoples, CERD has made clear its view that when they are deprived of their lands without their free, prior and informed consent, States are required to provide effective remedies, including the return of such lands. In particular, it has recommended that States ensure that indigenous peoples have equal access to justice by "establishing adequate procedures, and defining clear and just criteria to resolve land claims by indigenous communities. They should do so within the domestic judicial system, while taking due account of relevant indigenous customary laws, and providing interpreters and bilingual counsel for court proceedings".<sup>43</sup>

#### **Business-specific references**

35. The Committee has specifically addressed measures States should take to redress harm (including indirect harm) caused to indigenous peoples by extractive and forestry companies.<sup>44</sup> Significantly, and like CESCR, CERD in recent concluding observations on the reports of individual States parties has encouraged them to take appropriate legislative or administrative measures to prevent "adverse impacts" on the rights of indigenous peoples in other countries from the activities of corporations registered in that State, and has recommended that States parties explore ways to hold such transnational corporations "accountable".<sup>45</sup>

# **D.** Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women

General principles

36. CEDAW does not contain a general provision equivalent to those in the ICCPR and ICERD requiring States to provide "effective remedy" for individuals whose rights are violated. However, article 2 (a) of the Convention obliges States "to ensure, through law and other appropriate means, the practical realization" of the principle of non-discrimination between men and women, article 2 (c) requires States "to ensure through competent national tribunals and other public institutions the effective protection of women against any act of discrimination", and article 2 (b) deals with sanctions against perpetrators. The Convention also specifically

<sup>45</sup> See concluding observations for Canada, CERD/C/CAN/CO/18, para. 17, and concluding observations for the United States, CERD/C/USA/CO/6, para. 30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Ibid., para. 46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Ibid., para. 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Ibid., para. 60.

refers to business in article 2 (e), under which States parties commit "to take all appropriate measures to eliminate discrimination against women by any person, organization or enterprise".

37. As the Special Representative's work on the Convention has shown:

"the Convention clearly contemplates adjudication of public and private actors to eliminate discrimination and the Committee has spoken of the importance of effective complaints procedures, as well as judicial action in some situations, to protect rights.

"The Committee discusses the use of 'legal measures' to provide 'effective protection', including complaints mechanisms, penal sanctions, civil remedies and compensatory provisions. It expects States parties to take steps not only to prevent abuse by third parties but also to punish and redress abuse. 'Protective measures' for victims (including rehabilitation and support services) are also considered important." <sup>46</sup>

38. The Committee has stressed the importance of access by women to effective complaints mechanisms and reparation, including compensation where appropriate, in relation to workplace discrimination, sexual harassment, and especially in situations of public or private violence. It has also stressed the importance of legal aid in ensuring such access is meaningful. The Committee's recommendations apply to all women but they indicate that special attention may need to be given to certain groups, including girls and indigenous women.

#### **Business-specific references**

39. Beyond article 2 (e) noted above, other Convention provisions do not explicitly mention business but address contexts that are very likely to involve business, including employment, and the provision of health care and financial services. The Committee regularly refers to the need for States parties to combat abuse in the labour market and to regulate a wide range of employers, including small businesses as well as major publicly listed companies, using an array of different regulatory tools. It has also made particular mention of certain industries including health, tourism, apparel, agriculture and the financial services sector.

40. The Committee has stressed the particular vulnerabilities of female migrant workers, including with respect to abuse by non-State actors, and recently observed that "States parties should take active measures to prevent, prosecute and punish all migration-related human rights violations that occur under their jurisdiction, whether perpetrated by public authorities or private actors."<sup>47</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> "State Responsibilities to Regulate and Adjudicate Corporate Activities under the United Nations core Human Rights Treaties: Individual Report on the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women", prepared for the Special Representative, September 2007, paras. 78-79, available at <u>http://www.businesshumanrights.org/Documents/Ruggie-report-CEDAW-Sep-2007.pdf</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> General recommendation No. 26, para. 25.

#### E. Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment

41. Taken together, articles 2 (1) and 16 (1) of the Convention oblige States parties to take action through legislative, administrative, judicial, and other means to effectively prevent torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment. Article 4 requires States parties to criminalize all acts, including attempted acts of, and complicity or participation in, torture (as defined in article 1). It requires them to punish torture by State actors or others acting in an official capacity, including private persons acting with official sanction, and officials who know or have reasonable grounds to believe that such abuses are being carried out by private parties and fail to take appropriate steps to prevent, investigate or punish such abuses. It is not clear whether States are obliged to prosecute legal persons, including corporations, as well as individuals in cases where the accused is a private person acting with official sanction.

42. Article 13 deals with the procedural aspects of remedy in requiring that any individual who claims he or she has been subjected to torture in any territory under the jurisdiction of a State party "has the right to complain to, and to have his case promptly and impartially examined by, its competent authorities".<sup>48</sup> Article 12 provides for prompt and impartial investigations. Article 4 provides that penalties must be appropriately severe in order to reflect the grave nature of the crime. In addition, article 14 provides that each State party "shall ensure in its legal system that the victim of an act of torture obtains redress and has an enforceable right to fair and adequate compensation, including the means for as full rehabilitation as possible".

43. In its general comment No. 2 (2008), the Committee stated:

"Certain basic guarantees apply to all persons deprived of their liberty. Some of these are specified in the Convention, and the Committee consistently calls upon States parties to use them. The Committee's recommendations concerning effective measures aim to clarify the current baseline and are not exhaustive. Such guarantees include, inter alia, maintaining an official register of detainees, the right of detainees to be informed of their rights, the right promptly to receive independent legal assistance, independent medical assistance, and to contact relatives, the need to establish impartial mechanisms for inspecting and visiting places of detention and confinement, and the availability to detainees and persons at risk of torture and ill-treatment of judicial and other remedies that will allow them to have their complaints promptly and impartially examined, to defend their rights, and to challenge the legality of their detention or treatment."<sup>49</sup>

44. The Committee has expressed concern at the lack of effective State policy to prevent and punish violence against "at-risk" or vulnerable groups like women, children and ethnic and other minorities, including when it is committed by private actors.<sup>50</sup> The State action requirement in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> This differs from the references to individual vindication of treaty rights found in the ICCPR and ICERD.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> CAT/C/GC/2, para. 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> "Mapping State Obligations for Corporate Acts: An Examination of the UN Human Rights Treaty System - Individual Report on the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman

the Convention means that the Committee has not focused on abuse by private business actors to the same extent as the other treaty bodies. However, it has observed that States are responsible for ensuring that all detention facilities comply with the Convention's guarantees, which by implication must encompass facilities that have been outsourced by the State and are privately run. The Committee noted that:

"each State party should prohibit, prevent and redress torture and ill-treatment in all contexts of custody or control, for example, in prisons, hospitals, schools, institutions that engage in the care of children, the aged, the mentally ill or disabled, in military service, and other institutions as well as contexts where the failure of the State to intervene encourages and enhances the danger of privately inflicted harm."<sup>51</sup>

45. The Convention does not, of course, limit the international responsibility that States or individuals can incur for perpetrating torture and other related crimes under international customary law or other treaties - notably the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court.

### F. Convention on the Rights of the Child

### **General principles**

46. The CRC does not contain a general provision dealing with the State obligation to provide access to remedy. However, it contains various provisions addressing specific aspects of access to remedy, particularly judicial remedy, including in article 9 (2) (the opportunity for an affected child to participate in separation proceedings), article 12 (the opportunity for a child to be heard in any judicial proceedings that are held), article 19 (2) (judicial involvement in cases of violence against children), article 37 (d) (the opportunity for prompt access to a court to challenge any detention order), and article 40 (2) (b) (iii) (the opportunity for prompt penal proceedings).

47. In general comment No. 5 (2003), the Committee on the Rights of the Child stated that "for rights to have meaning, effective remedies must be available to redress violations", and that the right to an effective remedy is implicit in the Convention.<sup>52</sup> The Committee considers that States parties must "give particular attention to ensuring that there are effective, child-sensitive procedures available to children and their representatives" and that such procedures should include "access to independent complaints procedures and to the courts with necessary legal and other assistance". (These concerns recur in general comments Nos. 8 and 9.) Where a violation of a Convention right is found, "there should be appropriate reparation, including compensation, and, where needed, measures to promote physical and psychological recovery, rehabilitation and reintegration". Relevantly, general comment No. 5 also stresses incorporation of the Convention into domestic law.

or Degrading Treatment or Punishment", prepared for the Special Representative, December 2007, pp. 7-9, available at <u>http://www.reports-and-materials.org/Ruggie-report-Convention-against-Tor-Dec-2007.pdf</u>.

<sup>51</sup> General comment No. 2, para. 15.

<sup>52</sup> CRC/GC/2003/5, para. 24.

48. The Optional Protocol on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography contains detailed provisions requiring changes to national criminal law, and refers to compensation for victims as well as penalties for perpetrators. The Committee has expressed concern at reducing penalties where compensation is available and has called for separation between reparation and penalties to ensure perpetrators are held to account.<sup>53</sup> The Optional Protocol also requires States parties to adopt measures to ensure recovery and reintegration for victims.

#### **Business-specific references**

49. According to the Special Representative's work on the CRC, the Committee's commentaries imply that access to remedial mechanisms and appropriate reparation should follow abuses by State and non-State actors alike, including business enterprises. With respect to criminal sanctions, in accordance with article 32 of the Convention, the Committee has called for prosecution and punishment of private actors engaged in economic exploitation or discrimination, trafficking or violence against children, and has said that punishments should be well publicized so as to act as a deterrent.

50. The Committee has focused on the issue of businesses carrying out "State functions", and has stressed that States must ensure that non-State service providers, including business, act in accordance with the Convention.<sup>54</sup> The Committee has also discussed the importance of regulating media and Internet companies, and various types of employers, in ensuring the effective implementation of Convention rights.

51. The Optional Protocol on the sale of children requires States parties to ensure that complainants have access to adequate procedures to seek compensation from those "legally responsible" under article 9. The Committee has encouraged States parties to extend liability under the Optional Protocol to legal persons, pursuant to article 3 (4), which provides that "subject to the provisions of its national law, each State party shall take measures, where appropriate, to establish the liability of legal persons for offences established in paragraph 1 of the present article. Subject to the legal principles of the State party, such liability of legal persons may be criminal, civil or administrative".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> See "State Responsibilities to Regulate and Adjudicate Corporate Activities under the United Nations core Human Rights Treaties: Individual Report on the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child and its Optional Protocols", prepared for the Special Representative, July 2007, para. 131, available at http://www.business-humanrights.org/Documents/ Ruggie-report-Convention-on-Rights-of-Child-Jul-2007.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> See general comment No. 5, op. cit., paras. 42-43. The general comment draws States parties' attention to the recommendations from the 2002 day of general discussion on the private sector as service providers.

# **G. International Convention on the Protection of the Rights** of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families

### **General principles**

52. Article 83 of the ICRMW sets out States parties' obligations in exactly the same terms as article 2 (3) of the ICCPR, that is, by requiring States to ensure that "any person" whose Convention rights or freedoms are violated "shall have an effective remedy". Recognizing that migrant workers face particular problems in enforcing their rights as they may not be allowed to stay in a host State's territory once their contract of employment expires, the Committee on Migrant Workers (CMW) has recommended that migrant workers be allowed "to stay in the country [of employment] for the time necessary to seek remedies for unpaid wages and benefits". The Committee also recommended that States "should consider offering legal services to migrant workers in legal proceedings related to employment and migration". The Committee further recommended that States "establish effective and accessible channels which would allow all migrant workers to lodge complaints of violations of their rights without fear of retaliation on the grounds that they may be in an irregular situation".

53. Article 18 of the Convention provides that "migrant workers ... shall have the right to equality with nationals of the State concerned before the courts and tribunals". According to the Committee, "Article 18 does not apply only to a situation where migrant workers seek a remedy for violations under the Convention, but rather to any situation before courts and tribunals".<sup>56</sup>

54. The CMW has recommended special attention be given to protect the rights of migrant women, particularly domestic workers.<sup>57</sup> Similarly, OHCHR has highlighted the plight of unaccompanied migrant children, arguing that States should ensure that such children, and the children of migrant workers, are given equal opportunities to exercise their rights. OHCHR's comments apparently contemplate States regulating private as well as public employers in order to ensure the full enjoyment of the rights of migrant children.<sup>58</sup>

<sup>57</sup> Ibid, para. 52.

<sup>58</sup> Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, "High-Level Dialogue on International Migration and Development - Key OHCHR Messages", August 2006.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> A/61/120, paras. 17 and 15 (f). See also "Mapping State Obligations for Corporate Acts: An Examination of the UN Human Rights Treaty System - Individual Report on the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families", prepared for the Special Representative, January 2007, paras. 45-46, available at http://www.business-humanrights.org/Documents/SRSG-report-migrant-workers-Jan-2007.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> "Mapping State Obligations for Corporate Acts: An Examination of the UN Human Rights Treaty System - Individual Report on the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families", para. 49.

#### **Business-specific references**

55. Article 68 of the Convention specifically provides for the imposition of effective sanctions on persons, groups or entities that organize, operate, or assist in organizing or operating illegal movements of migrant workers, or that use violence, threats or intimidation against migrant workers. This obligation appears to extend to activities by business enterprises engaged in trafficking or employing trafficked migrant workers.<sup>59</sup> With respect to specific businesses, the Committee has emphasized the importance of adequate regulation, including licensing, of recruitment agencies; it has also noted the importance of regular monitoring and inspection of workplaces, particularly in the domestic and agricultural sectors. In the case of domestic workers, the CMW has recommended in concluding observations that a State party should ensure that such workers have access to a mechanism to report alleged abuse by their employers, and that all cases of abuse be investigated and the perpetrators sanctioned.<sup>60</sup>

#### H. Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities

56. As one of the most recent international human rights treaties, the CRPD explicitly mentions business in article 4 (1) (e), which requires States parties to "take all appropriate measures to eliminate discrimination on the basis of disability by any person, organization or private enterprise."

57. The CRPD requires States parties to make provision for effective access to justice for persons with disabilities (which is distinct from a general obligation to provide access to remedy for violations of Convention rights). Article 13 provides that:

"1. States parties shall ensure effective access to justice for persons with disabilities on an equal basis with others, including through the provision of procedural and age-appropriate accommodations, in order to facilitate their effective role as direct and indirect participants, including as witnesses, in all legal proceedings, including at investigative and other preliminary stages.

"2. In order to help to ensure effective access to justice for persons with disabilities, States parties shall promote appropriate training for those working in the field of administration of justice, including police and prison staff."

58. The Convention also details the rights of persons with disabilities in the context of employment, referring in article 27 (1) (b) to the State obligation to "Protect the rights of persons with disabilities, on an equal basis with others, to just and favourable conditions of work, including ... the redress of grievances".

59. It remains to be seen what views the newly established Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities will offer with respect to State obligations to provide access to remedy for business-related abuse.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Ibid., para. 41.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Concluding observations for Mexico, CMW/C/MEX/CO/1, para. 35.

### I. International instruments pertaining to the rights of indigenous peoples

60. In discussing corporate-related abuse, the treaty bodies often pay particular attention to the special protections that may need to be afforded to indigenous peoples under the main international human rights treaties. More detailed provisions elaborating on indigenous peoples' human rights can be found in two other key international instruments.

61. International Labour Organization Convention No. 169 concerning Indigenous and Tribal Peoples in Independent Countries provides in article 4 that special measures "shall be adopted as appropriate" by States parties to safeguard the rights of indigenous and tribal peoples. In terms of the substantive aspects of remedy, it contains, in articles 15 and 16, several provisions relating to compensation for harm suffered through exploration, or use of resources, on indigenous and tribal peoples' lands, and for their removal from such lands where return is not possible. Under article 20, States parties are required to ensure that the rights of indigenous employees are effectively protected, including ensuring "that they are fully informed of their rights under labour legislation and of the means of redress available to them".

62. While ILO Convention No. 169 has only a small number of parties, there has been much broader support among the international community for the recent, in itself non-binding, United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples. The Declaration goes into more detail than the Convention with respect to the appropriate substantive remedies for the loss of indigenous peoples' lands or resources, or harm suffered through the use of such lands and resources, without their free, prior and informed consent in articles 10, 28 and 32. Under article 8, States are expected to provide effective mechanisms to prevent and provide redress for actions that violate the right of indigenous peoples not to be subjected to forced assimilation or destruction of their culture. Under article 11, States are also expected to provide redress where indigenous cultural property is appropriated without the free, prior and informed consent of the peoples involved.

63. The Declaration contains an overarching provision dealing with access to remedy, stating in article 40 that:

"Indigenous peoples have the right to access to, and prompt decision through, just and fair procedures for the resolution of conflicts and disputes with States or other parties, as well as to effective remedies for all infringements of their individual and collective rights. Such a decision shall give due consideration to the customs, traditions, rules and legal systems of the indigenous peoples concerned and international human rights."

#### J. Summary

64. Various procedural and substantive aspects of States' obligations to provide access to remedy for human rights abuses are addressed in the main international human rights treaties. Some treaties explicitly require States to provide remedy for abuse, although States generally have discretion in how to fulfil this obligation; in other cases, the treaty bodies have provided some useful guidance about what individual treaties appears to contemplate in this regard.

65. There are some common strands in the approaches of the various treaty bodies to State obligations to provide access to remedy for human rights abuses - whether committed by public or private actors. A number have emphasized the importance of:

- Conducting prompt, thorough and fair investigations
- Providing access to prompt, effective and independent remedial mechanisms, established through judicial, administrative, legislative and other appropriate means
- Imposing appropriate sanctions, including criminalizing conduct and pursuing prosecutions where abuses amount to international crimes
- Providing a range of forms of appropriate reparation, such as compensation, restitution, rehabilitation and changes in relevant laws

66. Several treaty bodies have also stressed the need for special attention to be paid to "at-risk" or vulnerable groups - potentially including women, children, indigenous peoples and other minorities - to ensure that they have access to effective remedies that are appropriately tailored to their needs. This is complemented in the case of indigenous peoples by other international instruments dealing specifically with their rights.

67. Although some of the newer treaties expressly contemplate States taking steps to eliminate abuse by business enterprises, and even establishing liability for legal persons,<sup>61</sup> there remains a lack of clarity as to the steps States should take to hold companies accountable. Particular areas that would benefit from greater clarity include whether States should impose liability on companies themselves, in addition to natural persons acting on the entity's behalf; when States are expected to provide individuals with civil causes of action against companies (i.e. separate from criminal sanctions and going beyond administrative complaints mechanisms); and whether and to what extent States should hold companies liable for alleged abuses occurring overseas. The comments by CESCR and CERD in this respect offer some guidance, although a number of points remain unclear.

68. Some types of companies, rights, and victims have been referred to more frequently than others by the treaty bodies. For example, several of them have emphasized that States should:

- Protect employees' rights in both public and private settings and establish effective complaints mechanisms for employment-related grievances
- Minimize the potential for extractive companies to impair the ability of communities affected by their activities, especially indigenous peoples, to access remedial mechanisms
- In situations where "State functions" have been privatized, ensure that effective systems are in place to remedy any abuse by the relevant private companies involved

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> See para. 51 above.

69. These and other implications of the State obligation to provide access to remedy for corporate-related abuse under the core international human rights treaties would benefit from further attention and elaboration.

#### IV. STATE OBLIGATIONS TO PROVIDE ACCESS TO REMEDY UNDER REGIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS INSTRUMENTS

70. This section surveys the situation under the main regional human rights treaties, namely the American Convention on Human Rights, European Convention on Human Rights and the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights.

71. The discussion of the Inter-American system draws on an analysis of the State duty to protect against human rights abuses by business under that system previously prepared for the Special Representative. Similar research is currently being conducted in support of the Special Representative's work into the European and African regional human rights systems, including States' obligations to provide access to remedy. This section therefore deals first with the Inter-American system, and then discusses some of the general principles underlying the remedial approaches in the European and African systems.

### A. American Convention on Human Rights

## **General principles**

72. Under article 1 (1) of the American Convention on Human Rights, States parties are required to undertake to "respect" and "ensure" the rights contained in the Convention with respect to all persons subject to their jurisdiction.<sup>62</sup> In its judgement in its first contentious case, *Velásquez Rodriguez*, the Inter-American Court of Human Rights analysed what the obligation to "ensure" rights means:

"This obligation implies the duty of States Parties to organize the governmental apparatus and, in general, all the structures through which public power is exercised, so that they are capable of juridically ensuring the free and full enjoyment of human rights. As a consequence of this obligation, the States must prevent, investigate and punish any violation of the rights recognized by the Convention and, moreover, if possible attempt to restore the right violated and provide compensation as warranted for damages resulting from the violation.

•••

"This duty to prevent includes all those means of a legal, political, administrative and cultural nature that promote the protection of human rights and ensure that any violations are treated as illegal acts, which, as such, may lead to the punishment of those responsible and the obligation to indemnify the victims for damages. It is not possible to make a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> The Convention is one of the two main human rights instruments adopted by the Organization of American States (OAS). The other is the non-binding American Declaration of the Rights and Duties of Man, which applies to all OAS member States, including those which have not ratified the American Convention on Human Rights.

detailed list of all such measures, since they vary with the law and the conditions of each State party. " $^{63}$ 

73. While the case concerned violations by State-sponsored forces, the judgement also noted that States have similar obligations to prevent or respond to private acts that are not directly attributable to the State.

74. Article 25 (1) of the American Convention on Human Rights guarantees the right of *amparo* - a procedure for obtaining judicial review of an executive act affecting an individual that allegedly violates domestic legal norms, similar to the common law habeas corpus action - and extends its reach to alleged breaches of the Convention.<sup>64</sup> It provides that:

"Everyone has the right to simple and prompt recourse, or any other effective recourse, to a competent court or tribunal for protection against acts that violate his fundamental rights recognized by the constitution or laws of the State concerned or by this Convention, even though such violation may have been committed by persons acting in the course of their official duties."

75. The Inter-American Commission on Human Rights has emphasized that article 25 requires access to effective judicial remedy for the protection of fundamental rights, meaning that the tribunal must reach a reasoned conclusion on the merits of the claim.<sup>65</sup> Under article 25, States parties are also required to undertake to develop the possibility of judicial remedies, and to ensure that the competent authorities shall enforce such remedies when granted. Neither the Court nor the Commission has interpreted article 25 (1) as creating an individual right to establish the criminal or civil liability of alleged human rights abusers.

76. Article 8 (1) contains a general guarantee of the right to a fair hearing in both civil and criminal cases:

"Every person has the right to a hearing, with due guarantees and within a reasonable time, by a competent, independent, and impartial tribunal, previously established by law, in the

<sup>64</sup> The American Declaration also speaks about the right to access national courts in article XVIII, as well as providing for the right of *amparo*: "Every person may resort to the courts to ensure respect for his legal rights. There should likewise be available to him a simple, brief procedure whereby the courts will protect him from acts of authority that, to his prejudice, violate any fundamental constitutional rights." Note that article 8 of the UDHR resulted from a proposal put by Mexico during the drafting of the Declaration that *amparo* should be protected by its provisions. Mary Ann Glendon, "The Forgotten Crucible: The Latin American Influence on the Universal Human Rights Idea", *Harvard Human Rights Journal*, vol. 16 (2003), p. 38.

<sup>65</sup> The Commission processes individual petitions from victims of human rights abuses and, where it finds an abuse has occurred, issues recommendations to the relevant State about measures to redress the abuse and prevent future violations. Where a State fails to implement those recommendations, and where it has submitted to the contentious jurisdiction of the Court, the Commission may refer the case to the Court for a binding judgement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> (1988) 1 Inter-Am Ct HR (ser. C) No. 4, paras. 166, 177.

substantiation of any accusation of a criminal nature made against him or for the determination of his rights and obligations of a civil, labour, fiscal, or any other nature."

77. Article 63 provides that if the Court finds that there has been a violation of the Convention, it shall rule, if appropriate, that fair compensation be paid to the victim. The Court may also adopt provisional measures. With respect to the exhaustion of domestic remedies, the Commission has stressed that it is not a "court of fourth instance", but it has also recognized a number of exceptions to the rule, including where domestic legislation does not provide adequate protection, where access to remedy has been denied, or where there has been unwarranted delay. As in the European system, these exceptions can be proven through evidence of a pattern of gross violations that have gone unremedied. The Court has stated that lack of legal representation can also constitute an exception in certain circumstances.

78. The Commission has developed a body of decisions upholding the right of the individual victim to know the truth about violations of their human rights, including the identity of those who committed them. The Court's emphasis on investigation and access to information in its decisions is not surprising given that the majority of the contentious cases brought before it have involved disappearances, torture and extrajudicial killings in situations where many of the States involved had granted amnesties to the perpetrators of these abuses.<sup>66</sup>

#### **Business-specific references**

79. As noted above, the Court has clearly held that the State duty to protect under the Convention extends to investigating, punishing and redressing abuse by "third parties" or "private persons", and has referred to the duty in situations likely to involve businesses.<sup>67</sup> The Commission has made clear that the Convention can be relied on by individuals in relation to State failures to adequately prevent, investigate, punish or redress abuse by private actors, specifically including corporations. It has considered the impact of business operations in situations involving violations of indigenous peoples' rights, threats to an individual's physical integrity, including where this arises as a result of environmental harm, and, increasingly, in situations implicating economic and social rights and the rights of the child. The Commission has also moved from ordering precautionary measures focused on the suspension or cancellation of licences by the State to include measures that require the continued involvement of the relevant corporation in monitoring and mitigating its impacts.

80. The Commission has emphasized the importance of protecting indigenous peoples' interests in their lands and natural resources - indeed, this is the main context in which it has discussed State responsibilities with respect to corporate-related human rights abuse. The Commission has stressed that States should ensure, where business operations affect indigenous

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> The Court has begun to expand its consideration of social and economic rights under article 26 of the Convention and under the 1988 Additional Protocol in the Area of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (Protocol of San Salvador).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> The following discussion draws on Anicama, op. cit., pp. 10-12. The Court has not explicitly used the term "companies", with the exception of Judge Antônio Cançado Trindade in a separate opinion in a case involving provisional measures ordered against Ecuador.

lands or peoples, that the relevant lands are appropriately identified and demarcated, that the indigenous peoples involved are consulted in all matters affecting their interests (including through the provision of adequate translation services where necessary), and that irreparable harm is not caused to their identity or rights.

81. The Court has ordered provisional measures in cases where the State has failed to adequately protect indigenous peoples' rights, including against the effects of third parties' commercial operations. The Court has stressed the importance of environmental and social impact assessments in the context of major resource and extractive projects, and the responsibility of States to ensure that such assessments are carried out in accordance with relevant international standards and best practices, while also taking into account cultural considerations.<sup>68</sup> Such assessments should be carried out in advance of any rights to land being granted and should consider the cumulative impact of proposed projects on affected communities.

## **B.** European Convention on Human Rights

82. Article 13 of the European Convention on Human Rights provides: "Everyone whose rights and freedoms as set forth in this Convention are violated shall have an effective remedy before a national authority notwithstanding that the violation has been committed by persons acting in an official capacity". Summarizing the views of the European Court of Human Rights, Shelton explains that: "the attributes of an effective remedy include institutional independence of the remedial body from the authority responsible for the violation, ability to invoke the Convention guarantees in question, capability of the remedial body of affording redress, and effectiveness in fact."<sup>69</sup>

83. The broad guarantee in article 13 is linked to the more specific requirements relating to habeas corpus actions in article 5 (4), compensation for unlawful arrest in article 5 (5), and access to justice, which the European Court of Human Rights has inferred from the fair hearing guarantee in article 6 (1), which article provides: "In the determination of his civil rights and obligations or of any criminal charge against him, everyone is entitled to a fair and public hearing within a reasonable time by an independent and impartial tribunal established by law."

84. The Court has held that a complainant must have a "bona fide" opportunity to have their case heard and, where appropriate, to have reparations assessed. States are entitled to impose reasonable restrictions on access to the courts to ensure a functioning system of justice (for example, through statutes of limitations, or the requirement of legal representation), but they must not impair the fundamental essence of the right to a fair hearing. The Court has held that where legal representation is required by law, or where the law is so complicated as to make

<sup>69</sup> Dinah Shelton, *Remedies in International Human Rights Law* (2nd ed., 2005), p. 123. The following discussion of the European system draws significantly on Shelton.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Saramaka People v. Suriname, Preliminary Objection, Merits, Reparations and Costs, Judgement of 28 November 2007, (ser. C) No. 172, para. 129; Interpretation of the Judgement of Preliminary Objections, Merits, Reparations and Costs, Judgement of 12 August 2008, (ser. C) No. 185, paras. 15-22.

legal advice essential, then the State must provide it.<sup>70</sup> For example, in a case involving two campaigners from Greenpeace who were successfully sued by McDonalds, the Court held that the failure of the United Kingdom to provide them with legal aid "had deprived them of the opportunity to present their case effectively before the court and contributed to an unacceptable inequality of arms" in contravention of article 6 (1).<sup>71</sup>

85. Article 6 (1) does not mandate judicial consideration: at least where civil rights or obligations are at issue, an initial determination may be made by an administrative body, provided that that body complies with article 6 (1) requirements, or by a private body, provided there exists a right of appeal to a body complying with article 6 (1).<sup>72</sup> Thus the remedy provided by a State may also be administrative or legislative, but it must be effective. In a series of cases in the 1990s against Turkey, the Court found violations of the broad guarantee in article 13 in the consistent absence of an effective remedy at the national level - including the State's failure to investigate alleged abuses, its failure to prosecute alleged offenders and its failure to provide compensation.

86. In other cases, the Court has concluded that, for the purposes of article 13, the nature of the right at issue will have implications for the nature of the remedy that must be provided. For example, where a case involves the protection of the right to life, or the prohibition on torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment, then the State must ensure an effective investigation that is capable of leading to the identification, prosecution and punishment of those responsible.<sup>73</sup>

87. While parties before the European Court of Human Rights are expected to have exhausted national remedies, there is no obligation to have recourse to remedies that are inadequate or ineffective, or where there are "special circumstances" like the routine passivity of national authorities in the face of serious allegations.<sup>74</sup> The Court has said that due allowance must be made for the fact that the exhaustion of domestic remedies rule is being applied in human rights proceedings, meaning it should be applied in a flexible manner and "without excessive formalism".

88. It should be noted that article 47 of the European Charter of Fundamental Rights, which is currently not legally binding but is contained in Part II of the draft European Union Constitution, incorporates the requirements of both articles 6 (1) and 13, as well as specifically providing for legal aid where that is "necessary to ensure effective access to justice".

<sup>74</sup> Ibid., pp. 124-130.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Airey v. Ireland, (1979-80) 2 EHRR 214.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Quoted in Andrew Clapham, *Human Rights Obligations of Non-State Actors* (2006) p. 385.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Ibid., p. 384.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Shelton, *Remedies in International Human Rights Law*, op. cit., pp. 128-130.

#### C. African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights

89. Article 7 of the African Charter states that:

"Every individual shall have the right to have his cause heard. This comprises: (a) the right to an appeal to competent national organs against acts violating his fundamental rights as recognized and guaranteed by conventions, laws, regulations and customs in force ..."

90. This provision appears to take the obligation on States parties to provide access to "competent national organs" for individuals to vindicate their rights and to extend it beyond the African Charter to other treaties dealing with fundamental rights and freedoms.<sup>75</sup>

91. Article 26 requires States parties to guarantee the independence of their courts and to allow "the establishment and improvement of appropriate national institutions entrusted with the promotion and protection of the rights and freedoms guaranteed by the present Charter". The African Commission has emphasized that States are expected to conduct effective investigations into alleged violations, and ensure the provision of a fair trial.<sup>76</sup>

92. The procedural exhaustion requirement in articles 50 and 56 (5) of the Charter is "the one condition most frequently invoked and contested by the parties before the African Commission".<sup>77</sup> The Commission has stated that national remedies must be "available, effective and sufficient" to be considered.<sup>78</sup> To be available, the remedy must be evident and a claimant must be able to pursue it without impediments; to be effective, the substantive right must be adequately provided for in national law; and to be sufficient, the remedy must offer at least the prospect of success. Again, a pattern of persistent violations that have not been redressed can constitute evidence of inadequate domestic remedies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> In comparison, article 9 of the Arab Charter on Human Rights provides that "everyone within the territory of the State has a guaranteed right to a legal remedy", but it is not clear that this extends beyond violations of existing national laws. The Charter entered into force in March 2008 and has been controversial in parts. Note also that the Inter-American Court may consider any human rights treaty that is applicable to the American States in its advisory jurisdiction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Shelton, *Remedies in International Human Rights Law*, op. cit., p. 142. The African Court on Human and Peoples' Rights has recently begun hearing its first contentious case. Under the 2008 Protocol on the Statute of the African Court of Justice and Human Rights, the African Court on Human and Peoples' Rights will merge with the AU Court of Justice to form a new institution, which will assume jurisdiction over any human rights cases currently under consideration by the African Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Nsongurua Udombana, "So Far, So Fair: The Local Remedies Rule in the Jurisprudence of the African Commission on Human and Peoples' Rights", *American Journal of International Law*, vol. 97 (2003), p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Shelton, *Remedies in International Human Rights Law*, op. cit., p. 142. According to at least one commentator, the Commission has not applied the rule as consistently as might be hoped. See Udombana, op. cit.

93. The Commission has made clear that States have positive obligations under the Charter to prevent and sanction third party abuses of human rights. It has held that the decision of the Inter-American Court in *Velásquez Rodriguez* is of direct relevance in the African context, specifically, in interpreting article 1 of the Charter, which requires States parties to "recognize the rights, duties and freedoms enshrined in the Charter and … undertake to adopt legislative and other measures to give effect to them".<sup>79</sup> A State may breach its obligations where it fails to exercise the necessary care to prevent abuse by private actors, or fails to take the necessary steps to investigate, punish and redress abuses where they occur - including restoring the right that has been violated and providing compensation.<sup>80</sup>

94. The best known application of these principles in the context of corporate-related abuse is the decision by the Commission on a communication concerning Nigeria's alleged failure to protect against abuse by an oil consortium comprised of State-owned and private enterprises.<sup>81</sup> The Commission found that the State had failed in its duty to protect the affected individuals from abuse by non-State actors. It said that the duty requires States to create and maintain an appropriate legal and regulatory framework enabling individuals to freely realize their rights, including by ensuring that they have access to remedy. Among other measures, the Commission recommended more effective and independent oversight of the petroleum industry.

### **D.** Summary

95. In considering States' general obligations to provide access to remedy for human rights abuses, the regional human rights commissions and courts have focused on a number of key issues, including the meaning of a "fair hearing" and when practical matters, like inadequate legal aid or representation, may constitute unacceptable barriers to remedy. In applying the rule requiring exhaustion of domestic remedies to proceedings before them, they have also gone into some detail about when, and what kind of, failures at the national level will vitiate this requirement - including ongoing State passivity in the face of persistent allegations.

96. With respect to corporate-related abuse, as noted above, further research is being carried out into the European and African systems. But as the study on the Inter-American system conducted for the Special Representative shows, some consideration has been given to steps that States should take to prevent, and also to investigate, punish and redress abuse by private actors. For example, the Inter-American Commission has considered the impact of business operations in situations involving violations of indigenous peoples' rights, threats to an individual's physical integrity (including where this arises as a result of environmental harm), and, increasingly, in situations implicating economic and social rights and the rights of the child.

97. The Inter-American Court has also dealt with State responsibility for third party abuse in the context of violations of indigenous peoples' rights, and has emphasized the importance of consultation and the carrying out of environmental and social impact assessments prior to project

<sup>79</sup> Zimbabwe Human Rights NGO Forum v. Zimbabwe, Communication No. 245/2002 (May 2006), para. 144.

<sup>80</sup> Ibid., para. 146.

<sup>81</sup> SERAC v. Nigeria, Communication No. 155/96 (October 2001).

approval being granted. However, these and other issues concerning States' obligations to provide access to remedy for corporate-related abuse would benefit from further consideration and guidance by the regional human rights commissions and courts.

#### V. THE INDIVIDUAL RIGHT TO REMEDY IN SITUATIONS OF GROSS HUMAN RIGHTS VIOLATIONS

98. The United Nations Basic Principles and Guidelines on the Right to a Remedy and Reparation for Victims of Gross Violations of International Human Rights Law and Serious Violations of International Humanitarian Law were adopted in 2005, first by the Commission on Human Rights, and subsequently in a resolution of the General Assembly, giving them an authoritative, if not legally binding, force.<sup>82</sup> The preamble indicates that they are intended to reiterate States' existing obligations under the main international and regional human rights treaties, international humanitarian law conventions, and other relevant sources of international law, to provide access to remedy for gross human rights violations and serious violations of international humanitarian law.<sup>83</sup> The Basic Principles also provide for an individual right to remedy in such cases, "irrespective of who may ultimately be the bearer of responsibility for the violation", <sup>84</sup> and thus extend to third party, including corporate-related, abuses.

99. This section outlines the understanding of "gross violations" that shaped the drafting of the Basic Principles, and then discusses their key provisions and notes their potential implications for situations involving corporate-related abuse.

#### A. Gross violations

100. In his progress report in 1993, when the draft principles applied only to gross violations of international human rights law, the initial drafter, Theodor van Boven, explained that:

"While under a number of international instruments any violation of provisions of these instruments may entail a right to an appropriate remedy, the present study focuses on gross violations of human rights as distinct from other violations. No agreed definition exists of the term 'gross violations of human rights'. It appears that the word 'gross' qualifies the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> An important precursor was the United Nations Declaration of Basic Principles of Justice for Victims of Crime and Abuse of Power, adopted by the General Assembly in 1985 (resolution 40/34, annex), which focused on remedies for victims of crimes committed by non-State actors under national law and on governmental abuse of power.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> See, generally, International Commission of Jurists, *The Right to a Remedy and to Reparation for Gross Human Rights Violations: A Practitioners' Guide* (2006).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Principle 3 (c). With respect to human rights abuses committed by third parties that do not amount to gross violations, however, the content of the right to remedy is less clear, and it will be necessary to look to the relevant source of the State obligation (usually the relevant treaty provision).

term 'violations' and indicates the serious character of the violations but that the word "gross" is also related to the type of human right that is being violated."<sup>85</sup>

101. After reviewing relevant sources, he concluded that the types of acts that would almost always constitute "gross violations" included "at least the following: genocide; slavery and slave-like practices; summary or arbitrary executions; torture and cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment; enforced disappearance; arbitrary and prolonged detention; deportation or forcible transfer of population; and systematic discrimination, in particular based on race or gender". However, as the inclusion of "systematic discrimination" indicates, gross violations may also arise from large-scale and systematic violations of other rights. Thus, there is no accepted list of what can constitute gross violations, and later drafts of the Basic Principles did not attempt to define them.<sup>86</sup>

### B. State obligations and individual rights

102. The Basic Principles stress States' core obligations to respect, protect, and ensure all international human rights and international humanitarian law, which obviously goes beyond the issue of providing access to remedy (Principles 1-3). They also reiterate the obligation on States to investigate, prosecute and punish violations of international human rights law and international humanitarian law, where the latter amount to international crimes, and to cooperate with other States in bringing perpetrators to account (Principles 4-5).

103. Principle 8 defines who can be considered a "victim", including who may be considered an "indirect victim":

"Victims are persons who individually or collectively suffered harm, including physical or mental injury, emotional suffering, economic loss or substantial impairment of their fundamental rights, through acts or omissions that constitute gross violations of international human rights law, or serious violations of international humanitarian law. Where appropriate, and in accordance with domestic law, the term "victim" also includes the immediate family or dependants of the direct victim and persons who have suffered harm in intervening to assist victims in distress or to prevent victimization."

104. This definition goes beyond what is stated or assumed in many of the core international human rights law treaties - namely, that a victim typically is an individual who is the direct

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> E/CN.4/Sub.2/1993/8, para. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> Similarly, with respect to "serious violations of international humanitarian law" there is no accepted list but they would certainly include the following: grave breaches of the Geneva Conventions; war crimes (as provided for in the Additional Protocols to the Conventions); breaches of a number of other related treaties, like those on the protection of cultural property and on land mines; and other relevant principles of customary international law. While still a large field, there is greater codification of what might constitute serious violations of international humanitarian law than is possible in respect of gross violations of international human rights law, where potentially all rights might be implicated if the harm is large-scale and systematic enough.

"target" of a violation. But the definition in the Basic Principles reflects international jurisprudence, particularly with respect to cases involving killings and disappearances.<sup>87</sup>

105. Principle 11 sets out the three core remedial rights of victims "as provided for under international law":<sup>88</sup>

- (a) Equal and effective access to justice;
- (b) Adequate, effective and prompt reparation for harm suffered; and
- (c) Access to relevant information concerning violations and reparation mechanisms.

106. In defining "access to justice", Principle 12 provides that victims "shall have equal access to an effective judicial remedy as provided for under international law", as well as referring to administrative and other relevant domestic mechanisms. States should "provide proper assistance to victims" and, in addition to individual justice, should endeavour to develop procedures for group claims and access to international mechanisms as appropriate (Principles 12-14).

107. The Basic Principles state that victims should be provided with "adequate, effective and prompt reparation" that is proportional to the harm suffered, which may include restitution, compensation, rehabilitation, satisfaction, and guarantees of non-repetition (Principles 15-23).<sup>89</sup> With respect to where the responsibility for providing reparation lies, Principle 15 provides that "in cases where a person, a legal person, or other entity is found liable for reparation to a victim, such party should provide reparation to the victim or compensate the State if the State has already provided reparation to the victim." States are expected to ensure that reparation decisions are enforced, including in cases involving foreign judgements (Principle 17).

108. The qualification noted above that under Principles 11 and 12 victims are entitled to remedy "as provided for under international law" may reflect a desire on the part of some States to emphasize that the Basic Principles do not expand the existing scope of State obligations to provide access to remedy for gross violations of international human rights law and serious violations of international humanitarian law. However, they are certainly indicative of an

<sup>88</sup> While access to information has usually been treated as an aspect of access to justice, or indeed as a substantive violation of the right not to be subjected to torture or cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment, it is included here as a stand-alone right. It evolved out of international humanitarian law requirements regarding the recording and passing on of information about the wounded, sick and dead. Cases concerning enforced disappearances have also stressed the importance of the victim's right to information about the violation, particularly where the claimant is not the direct victim but is closely linked to them. See International Commission of Jurists, op. cit., Ch. 5.

<sup>89</sup> Guarantees of non-repetition are often considered as an aspect of satisfaction; they are intimately related to the State obligation to prevent violations and so the primary obligation (to prevent) overlaps with the secondary obligation (to guarantee non-repetition where a violation has occurred).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> See International Commission of Jurists, op. cit., pp. 33-42.

enhanced concern on the part of the international community to ensure access to remedy for victims of gross human rights violations, and may reflect increased expectations that individuals should be able to resort to national courts to vindicate their treaty rights where those rights are the subject of gross violations.

109. The Basic Principles suggest that States may be required to do more, and be afforded less discretion, where gross violations occur and the individual right to remedy applies. For example, in order to ensure the individual right to access to justice (defined as "an effective judicial remedy") States may need to go beyond showing that they have taken appropriate steps to provide access to judicial remedy, and in fact ensure that in cases involving gross violations, including those committed by private parties, legal and practical barriers to accessing justice have been adequately addressed so as to enable the individual right to be effective.

110. Their adoption clearly invites a renewed focus on existing State obligations to provide access to remedy for gross violations committed by private actors, and on the legal and practical implications of the individual right to remedy in cases that involve corporate-related abuse.

#### VI. GOING FORWARD

111. The Special Representative will continue to follow developments in the areas discussed in this report, including the interpretation and application of State obligations to provide access to remedy for corporate-related human rights abuses under the main international and regional human rights systems, and expectations arising from the individual right to a remedy in cases involving gross violations, as reflected in the Basic Principles. He will explore the implications of these developments as he works to operationalize the three complementary pillars of the "protect, respect and remedy" framework - in particular, in developing recommendations to States about steps they could take to provide access to remedy for corporate-related abuse, through both judicial and non-judicial mechanisms.

112. To this end, he looks forward to continued dialogue with the United Nations treaty bodies, as well as with the regional human rights commissions and courts. Following his usual work practices, the Special Representative will consult widely with other relevant stakeholders as well, including, importantly, those seeking remedy for corporate-related abuses, as he examines existing barriers to accessing such remedy and how States can best address them.

-----